IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S257658

v.

JOSE GUADALUPE TIRADO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fifth Appellate District No. F076836 Kern County Superior Court No. BF163811A Honorable John Oglesby, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CENTRAL CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROGRAM

LAUREL THORPE Executive Director

THERESA SCHRIEVER Staff Attorney State Bar No. 308781 2150 River Plaza Dr. Suite 300 Sacramento, CA 95833 (916) 441-3792 tschriever@capcentral.org

Attorneys for Appellant Jose Tirado

QUESTION PRESENTED

Can the trial court impose an enhancement under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivision (b), for personal use of a firearm, or under section 12022.53, subdivision (c), for personal and intentional discharge of a firearm, as part of its authority under section 1385 and subdivision (h) of section 12022.53 to strike an enhancement under subdivision (d) for personal and intentional discharge of a firearm resulting in death or great bodily injury, even if the lesser enhancements were not charged in the information or indictment and were not submitted to the jury?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Penal Code¹ section 1385, a trial court's power to strike the whole section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement necessarily includes the power to strike an element of the

¹ Unless otherwise stated, references to statutes are to the Penal Code.

enhancement for the purpose of imposing a just sentence. This rule furthers the legislative purpose of amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h), is consistent with this court's precedent interpreting section 1385, and avoids leaving the trial court with a rigid and incongruous all-or-nothing choice between completely striking a lifetime enhancement or imposing it in full.

Enacted in 1997, section 12022.53 created mandatory sentencing enhancements for escalating levels of gun use during specified felonies: 10 years for personal use of a firearm (§ 12022.53, subd. (b)); 20 years if the firearm was intentionally discharged (§ 12022.53, subd. (c)); and 25 years to life if the discharge proximately caused great bodily injury or death (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)). The goal of this legislation was to deter violent crime by creating lengthy sentences that a judge had no choice but to impose. (Stats. 1997, ch. 503, § 1 (Assem. Bill 4).)

In 2017, the Legislature determined these mandatory firearm enhancements were not deterring crime and were instead causing problems by both increasing the overall prison population and exacerbating racial disparities in sentencing. Thus, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 620 (2017–2018 Reg. Sess.), which amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h) to expressly grant trial courts discretion to strike firearm enhancements in the interest of justice pursuant to section 1385. (Stats. 2017, ch. 682, § 2.) The goal of this legislation was to allow trial courts to use judicial discretion to tailor the sentence to the individual case and to the culpability of the particular offender.

It is clear that trial courts now have discretion to dismiss a section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement, or to strike the corresponding 25-year-to-life punishment entirely, if this result would serve the interest of justice. The question presented here is whether the authority to dismiss the whole subdivision (d) enhancement includes the power to strike a part of it, so as to impose a reduced sentence under section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c). In other words, when a jury returns a true finding on a section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement, can the trial court strike the allegation that the defendant caused "great bodily injury or death," in order to impose a sentence of 20 years under subdivision (c), which does not include the injury element? Alternatively, can the trial court strike both the "injury" and "discharge of a firearm" elements in order to impose a sentence of 10 years under subdivision (b), which lacks both the injury and discharge elements? To give effect to the plain language of section 12022.53, subdivision (h), which empowers the court to strike or dismiss "pursuant to section 1385," and to further the purpose of section 1385 and Senate Bill 620, the answer must be yes.

The scope of the court's power to strike or dismiss under section 12022.53, subdivision (h) is defined by the scope of section 1385. Although section 1385 literally provides for dismissal of an entire criminal action, meaning all the charges and allegations in the accusatory pleading, it has been construed to allow courts to dismiss or "strike" parts of an action. (*People v. Burke* (1956) 47

Cal.2d 45, 51 (*Burke*) [the power to dismiss the whole includes the power to strike out a part].)

The allegations in the accusatory pleading that a defendant "intentionally discharged a firearm" and "proximately caused great bodily injury or death" within the meaning of section 12022.53, subdivision (d) form a part of the criminal action. As allegations that increase punishment, they are also the type of allegations this court has recognized can be dismissed under section 1385. Further, the power to strike the whole subdivision (d) enhancement necessarily includes the power to strike out a part of it, such as the injury and discharge elements.

This conclusion is confirmed by *People v. Marsh* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 134, 142-143 (*Marsh*), where this court recognized that a trial court may reduce a defendant's sentence by striking an element or elements of an offense and imposing sentence on the remaining charges. Applying this procedure in the context of an enhancement, section 1385 permits a trial court to strike the "great bodily injury" element of the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement, in order to impose a reduced sentence of 20 years under section 12022.53, subdivision (c). It also permits the court to strike both the "great bodily injury" element and the "discharge" element, and impose a reduced sentence of 10 years under subdivision (b).

This procedure is consistent with the purpose of section 1385, and the line of authority recognizing that when a greater enhancement cannot be imposed for some reason, the court may impose a lesser uncharged enhancement. It also respects the rule

of statutory construction providing that section 1385 allows dismissal "in any situation" where the Legislature has not evidenced a contrary intent, as well as this court's history of interpreting section 1385 as broadly as necessary to achieve a just result.

The Court of Appeal concluded that when only the greater subdivision (d) enhancement is charged, the trial court is limited to striking the enhancement completely or imposing it in full. (People v. Tirado (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 637, 643.) This conclusion must be rejected. It fails to consider controlling case authority and is inconsistent with the manner in which section 1385 has historically been interpreted. There is no indication the Legislature intended to grant the broad power to strike a lifetime enhancement, while withholding the narrower power to strike a portion of that enhancement. By unnecessarily restricting the trial court's discretionary options at sentencing, the Court of Appeal's interpretation frustrates the shared purpose of section 1385 and Senate Bill 620 by limiting the court's ability to tailor the punishment to fit the individual culpability of the offender.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The amended information filed August 2, 2017 charged appellant Jose Tirado with attempted murder (§§ 664/187) (count one); second degree robbery (§ 212.5, subd. (c)) (count two); misdemeanor driving under the influence of alcohol (Veh. Code, § 23152, subd. (a)) (count five); and assault with a semi-automatic

firearm (§ 245, subd. (b)) (count six).² As to counts one and two, the information alleged appellant personally and intentionally discharged a firearm causing great bodily injury (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)). As to count six, the information alleged appellant personally used a firearm (§ 12022.5, subd. (a)) and personally inflicted great bodily injury (§ 12022.7, subd. (a)). The information also alleged gang enhancements (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)) as to counts one, two, and six. (1CT 184-190.)

The jury convicted appellant of second degree robbery (count two), driving under the influence (count five), and assault with a semi-automatic firearm (count six). As to the robbery count, the jury found true the allegation that appellant personally and intentionally discharged a firearm causing great bodily injury (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)). As to count six, the jury found true the personal firearm use and great bodily injury allegations (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a); 12022.7, subd. (a)). (4RT 610-612; 2CT 338-345.) The jury was unable to reach a verdict on attempted murder and the gang enhancements, so the court declared a mistrial as to those charges and allegations. (4RT 613-616; 2CT 348.)

On January 3, 2018, appellant filed a motion to strike the 25-year-to-life punishment for the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) firearm use enhancement in the interest of justice. (2CT 351-365.)

12

__

² Count three (§ 186.22, subd. (a)) and count 4 (§ 25852, subd. (c)(3)) were dismissed before trial. (1CT 184-190, 240-241; 3ART 192.)

On January 8, 2018, the trial court heard argument and denied appellant's request, but commented the decision was "difficult." (5RT 633-635, 639.) The court imposed the midterm of three years in state prison for the robbery count, plus a consecutive 25 years to life for the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement. As to the assault with a firearm conviction, the court imposed a concurrent term of six years, enhanced by four years for personal use of a firearm and three years for the great bodily injury enhancement. As to count five (driving under the influence), the court imposed a concurrent term of 90 days in jail. (5RT 635-638; 2CT 367-370.)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (2CT 375.) On August 12, 2019, the Court of Appeal issued its published opinion affirming the conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because this case presents a pure question of law, the facts are set forth in a limited manner:

On April 10, 2016, Brian P.³ was inside a convenience store when Anthony Aldaco entered the store and attempted to take a case of beer without paying. As Aldaco moved towards the door, Brian tried to stop him; they went to the ground. (2RT 48-53, 57-59, 124, 130.) Appellant walked behind Brian and shot him in the lower back.⁴ (2RT 52, 60-61, 66-67.) Police located appellant, who smelled of alcohol, and arrested him. (2RT 75-78.) Brian

13

³ Appellant uses Brian's first name for privacy. No disrespect is intended.

⁴ The surveillance video of the incident was played for the jury at trial.

had surgery to remove the bullet; afterwards, he continued to have pain and neuropathy in his foot. (2RT 53-56.)

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER PENAL CODE SECTIONS 12022.53 AND 1385, A TRIAL COURT HAS DISCRETION TO STRIKE ELEMENTS OF THE SECTION 12022.53, SUBDIVISION (D) ENHANCEMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF IMPOSING A REDUCED SENTENCE UNDER SECTION 12022.53, SUBDIVISION (B) OR (C)

A. Legal and Statutory Background

Standard of Review

This case presents a pure question of law subject to de novo review. (*People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.)

2. Penal Code Section 12022.53

Enacted in 1997 as part of the "10-20-life" bill (1997-1998 Reg. Sess. (Assem. Bill 4)), section 12022.53 provides that a defendant who commits any of the 18 offenses listed in subdivision (a) of that section shall receive one of three firearm enhancements, depending on the severity of the conduct in which the defendant engaged. The statute provides for a 10-year enhancement for personal use of a firearm, even if the firearm is not operable or loaded (§ 12022.53, subd. (b)); a 20-year enhancement for personal and intentional discharge of a firearm (§ 12022.53, subd. (c)); and a 25-year-to-life enhancement for personal and intentional discharge of a firearm causing great

bodily injury or death (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)).⁵ For a penalty under this section to apply, the requisite facts supporting the enhancement must be alleged in the accusatory pleading, and the defendant must admit those facts or the trier of fact must find them to be true. (§ 12022.53, subd. (j); *People v. Gonzalez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1118, 1124-1125.)

Prior to January 1, 2018, imposition of an enhancement under section 12022.53 was mandatory. Former section 12022.53, subdivision (h) provided: "Notwithstanding Section 1385 or any other provision of law, the court shall not strike an allegation under this section or a finding bringing a person within the provisions of this section." (Stats. 2010, ch. 711, § 5.)

On October 11, 2017, Governor Brown signed Senate Bill 620 (2017–2018 Reg. Sess.), which amended section 12022.53 to remove the prohibition against striking a firearm allegation or finding. (Stats. 2017, ch. 682, § 2.) Effective January 1, 2018, amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h) provides: "The court may, in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385 and at the time of sentencing, strike or dismiss an enhancement otherwise required to be imposed by this section. The authority provided by this subdivision applies to any resentencing that may occur pursuant to any other law."

⁵ Pursuant to section 12022.53, subdivision (f), the court may impose only one additional term of imprisonment under this section per person per crime.

3. Penal Code Section 1385

As noted above, the express language of section 12022.53, subdivision (h) provides that the court's power to strike or dismiss an enhancement is "pursuant to section 1385."

Enacted in 1872, section 1385 currently provides:

- (a) The judge or magistrate may, either of his or her own motion or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed. The reasons for the dismissal shall be stated orally on the record. The court shall also set forth the reasons in an order entered upon the minutes if requested by either party or in any case in which the proceedings are not being recorded electronically or reported by a court reporter. A dismissal shall not be made for any cause that would be ground of demurrer to the accusatory pleading.
- (b) (1) If the court has the authority pursuant to subdivision (a) to strike or dismiss an enhancement, the court may instead strike the additional punishment for that enhancement in the furtherance of justice in compliance with subdivision (a).
- (2) This subdivision does not authorize the court to strike the additional punishment for any enhancement that cannot be stricken or dismissed pursuant to subdivision (a).

The express language of section 1385 refers to dismissal of an "action," which is a criminal proceeding by which a party charged with a public offense is accused and brought to trial and punishment. (*People v. Hernandez* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 512, 521.) An action "consists of all charges and allegations prosecuted in the name of the People of the State of California, as a party, against the person charged with the offense." (*Ibid.*)

Although section 1385 literally authorizes a court to dismiss only an entire criminal action, it has been construed to permit dismissal of parts of an action. (Burke, supra, 47 Cal.2d at p. 51.) This includes: (1) a single count of a multiple-count accusatory pleading (People v. Polk (1964) 61 Cal.2d 217, 225-228; (2) a prior conviction allegation or finding (Burke, supra, 47 Cal.2d at pp. 50-51; (3) a special circumstance allegation (*People* v. Williams (1981) 30 Cal.3d 470, 477-490 (Williams)); (4) a strike allegation (People v. Superior Court (Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 529-530 (Romero)); (5) a weapon or firearm use allegation or finding (*People v. Price* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 803, 818-819 [weapon]; People v. Dorsey (1972) 28 Cal.App.3d 15, 17-18 [firearm]); and (6) elements of an offense that elevate its nature, thereby causing the punishment to be increased (Marsh, supra, 36 Cal.3d at pp. 142-143 [offense]; People v. Morrison (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 217 (*Morrison*) [enhancement]).

The purpose of section 1385 is "the avoidance of unjust sentences," a goal which is achieved by allowing the trial court maximum discretion to tailor the sentence to the individual defendant's case and culpability. (*People v. Garcia* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 490, 500 (*Garcia*); *Williams, supra*, 30 Cal.3d at pp. 482, 489-490.) To further this purpose, application of section 1385 is broad: "Section 1385 permits dismissals in the interest of justice in any situation where the Legislature has not clearly evidenced a contrary intent." (*Williams, supra*, 30 Cal.3d at p. 482.)

4. The Split of Authority

Appellate courts disagree as to whether the trial court's authority under section 12022.53, subdivision (h) and section

1385 includes the power to reduce the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement in the interest of justice. In appellant's case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the trial court is limited to the binary choice of dismissing the 25-year-to-life enhancement entirely, or imposing it in full.⁶ (*Tirado*, supra, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 643.) In so holding, the court found it relevant that the statutes use the terms "strike" or "dismiss" but not change, substitute, or modify. The court also found it significant that the prosecutor did not charge the subdivision (b) and (c) enhancements, and that the true finding on the subdivision (d) enhancement was supported by sufficient evidence. The court expressly disagreed with Morrison, which came to the opposite conclusion. (Id. at p. 644.)

In *Morrison*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th 217, 223, Division Five of the First District Court of Appeal held that the trial court has "discretion to impose an enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c) as a middle ground to a lifetime enhancement under subdivision (d), if such an outcome was found to be in the interest of justice under section 1385." The court observed that existing case law permits a court to impose a lesser uncharged enhancement when the greater enhancement is defective in some respect, and determined section 1385 can be used to achieve this same result. (*Id*. at pp. 222-223.) The

-

⁶ People v. Yanez (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 452, review granted April 22, 2020, S260819, and People v. Garcia (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 786 reached similar conclusions.

⁷ The majority and dissent in *People v. Ramirez* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 305, 312, 317 fn. 3, agreed with this conclusion.

Morrison court found further support in Marsh, supra, 36 Cal.3d at pp. 143-144, which held a court could use section 1385 to strike allegations of ransom and bodily harm in order to make the defendant eligible for a Youth Authority commitment. (Morrison, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 223.) Thus, the Morrison court remanded for the trial court to consider whether a reduction of the subdivision (d) enhancement was warranted. (Id. at pp. 223-225.)

For the reasons set forth below, appellant asks this court to adopt the rule of *Morrison* and hold that under section 12022.53, subdivision (h) and section 1385, the court's authority to dismiss the whole section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement includes the power to strike out a part of it for the purpose of imposing a reduced sentence under subdivision (b) or (c).

B. The Broad Scope of Section 1385 Includes the Power to Strike Allegations that Increase Punishment and Impose Sentence on the Remaining Charge

In the present case, the Court of Appeal concluded that because section 12022.53, subdivision (h) uses the terms "strike" or "dismiss," the court is limited to the binary choice of striking the enhancement or imposing it in full. (*Tirado*, *supra*, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 643.) However, because the statute provides that the court's power to strike or dismiss is "pursuant to section 1385," the question of whether a court may reduce an enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d) is necessarily governed by the scope of section 1385. (*Garcia*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 499 [reference to § 1385 incorporates case authority interpreting that section]; *Romero*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at

pp. 522-523 [reference to § 1385 incorporated that section without limitation].) If section 1385 includes the authority to reduce an enhancement, then such a reduction is permissible under section 12022.53, subdivision (h), unless the Legislature acted with "unmistakable clarity" to take this power away. (Williams, supra, 30 Cal.3d at pp. 480-481 [to restrict section 1385] discretion, Legislature must act with "unmistakable clarity"].)

As appellant will show, section 1385 includes the ability to reduce a defendant's punishment by "striking" an element of an enhancement and imposing sentence on the remaining allegations. Further, the Legislature has not acted at all, let alone with the requisite clarity necessary to withhold this power.

1. Burke and its Progeny

(i) The Authority to Dismiss the Whole Includes the Power to Strike Out a Part

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