In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSE GUADALUPE TIRADO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S257658

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F076836
Kern County Superior Court, Case No. BF163811A
The Honorable John Oglesby, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JULIE A. HOKANS
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
F. MATT CHEN
Deputy Attorney General
DINA PETRUSHENKO
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 271597
1300 I Street, Suite 125

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

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 12022.53(H) AUTHORIZES A TRIAL COURT TO STRIKE AN ENHANCEMENT IN THAT SECTION BUT NOT AN ELEMENT OF THAT ENHANCEMENT

A. Background of Sections 12022.53 and 1385

Section 12022.53 provides for tiered punishment for a defendant who uses a firearm in the commission of an enumerated felony based on the severity of his or her conduct. Section 12022.53(b) provides for a 10-year sentence enhancement when the defendant has personally used a firearm. Section 12022.53(c) provides for a 20-year sentence enhancement when the defendant has personally and intentionally discharged a firearm. Section 12022.53(d) provides for a 25-years-to-life sentence enhancement when the defendant has personally and intentionally discharged a firearm caused great bodily injury or death. “For the penalties in this section to apply, the existence of any fact required under subdivision (b), (c), or (d) shall be alleged in the accusatory pleading and either admitted by the defendant in open court or found to be true by the trier of fact.” (§ 12022.53(j).) Section 12022.53(f) provides, “Only one additional term of imprisonment under this section shall be imposed per person for each crime. If more than one

enhancement per person is found true under this section, the court shall impose upon that person the enhancement that provides the longest term of imprisonment”

Prior to 2017, section 12022.53(h) prohibited a trial court, notwithstanding section 1385, from striking either an allegation under the section or a finding bringing a person within the provisions of the section. In 2017, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 620 (Stats. 2017, ch. 682, § 2, pp. 5104-5106, eff. Jan. 1, 2018, amending §§ 12022.5 & 12022.53). Senate Bill No. 620 amended section 12022.53(h) to provide trial courts with the discretion to strike a firearm enhancement. Section 12022.53(h) now provides that a trial court may, “in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385 and at the time of sentencing, strike or dismiss an enhancement otherwise required to be imposed by this section.”

“Section 1385, enacted in 1872, gives trial courts discretion ‘in furtherance of justice [to] order an action to be dismissed.’” (*People v. Fuentes* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 218, 224.) A trial court’s discretion to dismiss an “action” under section 1385, subdivision (a), encompasses the power to strike or dismiss a sentencing enhancement allegation. (*In re Varnell* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1132, 1137 [“action” means “individual charges and allegations in a criminal case”]; *People v. Burke* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 45, 51 [“authority to dismiss the whole, includes, of course, the power to dismiss or ‘strike out’ a part”].) Where the trial court has the authority to strike or dismiss an enhancement, it may “instead

strike the additional punishment for that enhancement”²
(§ 1385, subd. (b)(1).)

**B. The Plain Language of Section 12022.53(h),
Does Not Authorize a Trial Court to Strike an
Element of an Enhancement**

Section 12022.53(h) confers the authority to “strike or dismiss an enhancement” set forth in section 12022.53. Neither the term “enhancement” nor the phrase “strike or dismiss” is ambiguous. A plain reading of section 12022.53(h) dictates that a trial court has the discretion to strike an enhancement set forth in that section but not to strike an element of an enhancement for the purpose of imposing and executing sentence on a lesser included but uncharged enhancement.

1. Standards of statutory construction

Issues of statutory construction are questions of law that are reviewed de novo on appeal. (*People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.) ““When we interpret a statute, [o]ur fundamental task . . . is to determine the Legislature’s intent so as to effectuate the law’s purpose. We first examine the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning. We do not examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment. If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a

² Section 1385 was amended effective January 1, 2019, to remove a prohibition on striking certain prior convictions. (Stats. 2019, ch. 1013, § 2.)

literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend.””” (Hassell v. Bird (2018) 5 Cal.5th 522, 540.) If the statutory terms are ambiguous, this Court may examine extrinsic sources, including the ostensible objects to be achieved and the legislative history. (Day v. City of Fontana (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.) In such circumstances, this Court will choose the construction that comports most closely with the Legislature’s apparent intent, endeavoring to promote rather than defeat the statute’s general purpose, and avoiding a construction that would lead to absurd consequences. (Ibid.)

2. The phrase “strike or dismiss an enhancement,” as used in section 12022.53(h), is not ambiguous

The phrase “strike or dismiss,” as used in section 12022.53(h), authorizes the trial court to delete or remove from consideration the punishments set forth in subdivisions (b)-(d), as they are explained *post*. Colloquially, to “strike” is understood to mean to delete. (See also Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dict. (10th ed.) p. 1165 [“to delete something”].) Similarly, one definition of “dismiss” is “to put out of judicial consideration.” (*Id.* at p. 334; see also Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) [defining “dismiss” as “to terminate (an action or claim) without further hearing”].) “Strike or dismiss” does not mean the trial court may delete a part of an enhancement so as to modify it.

In turn, as used in section 12022.53, the term “enhancement” refers to the additional penalties set forth in subdivisions (b), (c), and (d). (See generally *People v. Oates* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1048.) By conferring the authority to strike an

enhancement, section 12022.53(h) allows a trial court to strike the penalty imposed by each of the three subdivisions. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.405(3) [“Enhancement’ means an additional term of imprisonment added to the base term.”]; *Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 898 [“By definition, a sentence enhancement is ‘an additional term of imprisonment added to the base term.’”].) “Enhancement” does not mean an element of an enhancement. The plain meaning then, of the phrase “strike or dismiss an enhancement” in section 12022.53(h), is that a trial court may delete the enhancement, in its entirety, as it is set out in section 12022.53(b)-(d).

The Legislature demonstrated that it understood the difference between an enhancement and the elements of an enhancement. For instance, before section 12022.53 was amended, subdivision (h) provided that “the court shall not strike an allegation under this section or a finding bringing a person within the provisions of this section.” (Former § 12022.53(h).) After the amendment, the Legislature removed the reference to the trial court’s ability (or lack thereof) to strike allegations or findings and replaced it with authority for the trial court to strike or dismiss the enhancement. (§ 12022.53(h).) The former language encompassed Tirado’s proposed interpretation of section 12022.53(h) because it recognized the difference between an enhancement and findings bringing a person within the provisions of section 12022.53. The amended language removed the reference to allegations and findings in lieu of allowing the trial court to strike the “enhancement.” In comparison, section

12022.53(j), which remained unchanged after Senate Bill No. 620, provides that “the existence of any fact required under subdivision (b), (c), or (d) shall be alleged in the accusatory pleading.”

Had the Legislature intended to authorize the trial court to strike an element or finding of one of the section 12022.53 enhancements, it could have done so by mirroring this language of subdivision (j) or former subdivision (h). (See *County of San Bernardino v. City of San Bernardino* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 909, 926 [absent contrary indications, words or phrases given a particular meaning in one part of the law should be given the same meaning in other parts of the law].) Yet, subdivision (h) says nothing about striking or dismissing elements of an enhancement. (See *Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 727 [“failure to include a requirement in one statute is significant when the legislative body has included that requirement in other statutes”].) But the Legislature has demonstrated that it understands how to draft a statute to empower a trial court to modify a verdict by reducing it to a lesser verdict. For example, section 1181, subdivision (6), provides that upon a motion for a new trial, “the court may modify the verdict” if the defendant is “not guilty of the degree of the crime of which he was convicted, but guilty of a lesser degree . . . or of a lesser crime included therein.”³ Similarly, section 1260 allows a reviewing court to

³ Section 1181 provides in part, “When a verdict has been rendered or a finding made against the defendant, the court may . . . grant a new trial . . . only [¶] . . . [¶] 6. When the verdict or
(continued...) ”

“modify a judgment . . . or reduce the degree of the offense.”⁴ No such language is present in section 12022.53(h). Because there is no ambiguity, this Court should presume the lawmakers meant what they said, and that the plain meaning of section 12022.53(h) allows a trial court to strike the section 12022.53(b)-(d) enhancements but not an element of an enhancement so as to modify the enhancement.

3. That section 1385 authorizes a trial court to strike or dismiss a 12022.53 enhancement does not render section 12022.53(h) ambiguous

a. The power to strike or dismiss under section 1385 does not extend to the elements of an enhancement

As discussed *ante*, section 12022.53(h) allows a trial court to strike a firearm enhancement in the interest of justice pursuant to section 1385. Tirado relies on section 12022.53(h)’s inclusion of section 1385 to urge this Court to conclude that a trial court may strike an element of an enhancement. (OBM 20, 22.) For instance, as Tirado would have it, a trial court could, in effect,

(...continued)

finding is contrary to law or evidence, but if the evidence shows the defendant to be not guilty of the degree of the crime of which he was convicted, but guilty of a lesser degree thereof, or of a lesser crime included therein, the court may modify the verdict, finding or judgment accordingly without granting or ordering a new trial, and this power shall extend to any court to which the case may be appealed.”

⁴ Section 1260 provides in part, “The court may reverse, affirm, or modify a judgment . . . or reduce the degree of the offense . . . or the punishment imposed”

reduce or modify a section 12022.53(d) enhancement to a lesser subdivision (c) enhancement by striking the element that one caused death or great bodily injury. (OBM 20.)

But the power to strike or dismiss an enhancement under section 1385 does not include the broad discretion to strike an element of an enhancement. Though section 1385 authorizes a trial court to order an action to be dismissed, by its plain terms, it limits the trial court's power only to dismissal of "actions." (§ 1385, subd. (a).) "The *only* action that may be dismissed under Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), is a criminal action or a part thereof.' [Citation.] We have consistently interpreted 'action' to mean the 'individual charges and allegations in a criminal action' [citations] and have never extended it to include mere sentencing factors. Thus, our courts have refused to permit trial courts to invoke section 1385 to dismiss sanity proceedings or a plea of insanity [citation], to reduce a verdict of first degree murder to second degree murder [citation]; to reduce the offense of conviction to an uncharged lesser related offense [citation]; or to enter a judgment of acquittal [citation]." (*In re Varnell, supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1137, original italics.)

No case has held that the court's power under 1385 authorizes the trial court to strike an element of an enhancement that has been found true. That section 1385 extends to dismissal of not only an entire action but also a count or charge within an action is not authority for such a proposition, since there are as many "actions" as there are counts or charges. (§ 954 [different counts can be tried separately].) And, though *People v. Burke*,

supra, 47 Cal.2d at page 51, held that section 1385 empowers the trial court to dismiss an action in whole or in part by striking a prior conviction enhancement, nothing in *Burke* suggests that the statement was intended to mean a trial court can strike out a few words of an enhancement, thereby reducing or modifying it to another. To hold that section 1385 contemplates striking or dismissing an element of an enhancement requires a leap in logic. Great bodily injury or death within section 12022.53(d), is not an action, a count, or a charge, as it does not constitute a distinct offense that a defendant has committed. (Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019 [defining cause of action as a “group of operative facts giving rise to one or more bases for suing,” defining count as “part of a charging document alleging that the suspect has committed a distinct offense,” and defining charge as a “formal accusation of an offense”].)

b. *People v. Marsh* does not extend the power to strike under section 1385 to the elements of an enhancement

To the extent Tirado suggests that section 1385 renders the phrase “strike or dismiss an enhancement” in 12022.53(h) is ambiguous, he is mistaken. *People v. Marsh* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 134 does not support Tirado’s position that section 1385 renders the phrase “strike or dismiss an enhancement” in section 12022.53(h) ambiguous. (OBM 27.) *Marsh* involved a kidnap for ransom charge (§ 209, subd. (a)) with a factual allegation of bodily harm.⁵

⁵ At the time, section 209, subdivision (a), provided, “Any person who . . . kidnaps or carries away any individual by any
(continued...)”

(*Id.* at p. 137.) The question before this Court was whether the trial court had “abused its discretion in denying [Marsh’s] motion under section 1385 to strike the ransom and bodily harm allegations in the kidnaping count.” (*Id.* at p. 139.) This Court described the factual findings on ransom and bodily harm as “similar in effect to prior conviction and weapons use findings in that they require an enhanced sentence.”⁶ (*Id.* at p. 144.) In this regard, the ransom and bodily harm allegations are akin to the firearm enhancements set forth in section 12022.53(b)-(d) rather than elements of the kidnaping charge. *Marsh* approved the dismissal of these individual factual allegations in connection with the kidnaping charge, just as a court may strike or dismiss a prior conviction or weapons use finding, reasoning that there is no “specific statutory prohibition” against doing so. (*Ibid.*) “For example, the court could strike only the bodily harm allegation, thereby reducing the kidnaping sentence to life with possibility of parole” (*Ibid.*) *Marsh* did not, however, consider or approve of striking an element of an enhancement so as to reduce the

(...continued)

means whatsoever with intent to hold or detain, or who holds or detains, such individual for ransom . . . is guilty of a felony and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for life without possibility of parole in cases in which any person subjected to any such act suffers death or bodily harm.” (Former § 209, subd. (a).)

⁶ Section 209, subdivision (a), provides for a punishment of life without the possibility of parole where the victim suffers death or bodily harm and life with the possibility of parole where the victim does not suffer death or bodily harm. The ransom allegation does not increase the punishment in a similar way.

enhancement to a lesser included but uncharged enhancement. Moreover, section 12022.53(h) contains a specific statutory prohibition limiting section 1385's power to the whole enhancement rather than an element of an enhancement.

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